

Effects of personality and rearing-history on the welfare of captive

Asiatic lions (*Panthera leo persica*)

Sitendu Goswami^a, Praveen C. Tyagi^a, Pradeep K. Malik^a, Shwetank Pandit^b,
Riyazahmed F Kadivar^b, Malcolm Fitzpatrick^c, Samrat Mondol^{a#}

^a Wildlife Institute of India, Uttarakhand, India.

^b Sakkarbaug Zoological Garden, Junagadh, Gujarat, India

^c London Zoo, Zoological Society of London, United Kingdom

[#]Corresponding author: Samrat Mondol, Wildlife Institute of India, Chandrabani,
Dehradun 248001, Uttarakhand, India. E-mail: samrat@wii.gov.in

Abstract

Background

The long-term success of ex-situ conservation programmes depends on species-appropriate husbandry and enrichment practices complemented by an accurate welfare assessment protocol. Zoos and conservation programmes should employ a bottom-up approach to account for intraspecific variations in measures of animal welfare. We studied 35 (14:21) captive Asiatic lions in Sakkarbaug Zoological Garden, Junagadh, India to understand the implications of individual variations on welfare measures. We categorized the subjects based on personality traits (bold or shy), rearing history (wild-rescued or captive-raised), sex, and social-grouping. We explored the association of these categorical variables on welfare indices, such as behavioural diversity, latency to approach novel objects, enclosure usage and aberrant repetitive behaviours. Further, we assessed the inter-relationships between different behavioural measures of welfare.

Results

Our results show that intraspecific variations based on rearing-history and personality traits consistently predict the welfare states of captive Asiatic lions. Asiatic lions with bold personality traits ($M=0.50$, $SD=0.12$, $N=21$) and those raised in captivity ($M=0.47$, $SD=0.12$, $N=16$) used enclosure space more homogenously compared to shy ($M=0.71$, $SD=0.15$, $N=14$) and wild-rescued ($M=0.67$, $SD=0.15$, $N=19$) animals. Behaviour diversity was significantly higher in captive-raised ($M=1.26$, $SD=0.3$, $N=16$) and bold ($M=1.23$, $SD=0.26$, $N=21$) subjects compared to wild-rescued ($M=0.83$, $SD=0.35$, $N=19$) and shy ($M=0.73$, $SD=0.34$, $N=14$) individuals. Aberrant repetitive behaviours (stereotypy) were significantly lower in bold ($M=7.01$, $SD=4$, $N=21$) and captive-raised ($M=7.74$, $SD=5.3$) individuals compared to wild-rescued ($M=13.12$, $SD=6.25$, $N=19$) and shy ($M=16.13$, $SD=5.4$, $N=16$) lions. Sex and social-grouping of subjects did not

Commented [JV1]: Effect is causal language. You did not manipulate the factors so you cannot talk about cause and effect.

Deleted: grouping

Deleted: (categorical variables)

Deleted: compared

Deleted: effect

Deleted: welfare indices

Deleted: between these groups

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: Welfare indices did not vary significantly due to the sex or social grouping of Asiatic lions

show significant associations with behavioural welfare indices. Interestingly, behaviour diversity was reliably predicted by the enclosure usage patterns and aberrant repetitive behaviours displayed by subjects.

Discussion

Our findings underline the importance of individual-centric, behaviour-based, and multi-dimensional welfare assessment approaches in ex-situ conservation programmes.

The results suggest that behavioural welfare indices complemented with individual variations can explain inter-individual differences in behavioural welfare measure outcomes of Asiatic lions. These findings also provide zoo managers with a non-invasive tool to reliably assess and improve husbandry practices for Asiatic lions. Understanding the unique welfare requirement of individuals in captivity will be crucial for the survival of the species.

Deleted: tools

Introduction

Welfare defines a fine balance between pathophysiology and affective states, or the state of the animal as it copes with its environment (Broom, 1991, Spruijt, Bos & Pijlman, 2001; Meehan & Mench, 2007; Boissy et al., 2007; Butterworth, Mench & Wielebnowski, 2011; Panksepp, 2011). Modern welfare science advocates the creation of opportunities for animals to experience positive emotions (Dawkins, 2004; Fraser, 2009; Whitham & Miller, 2016). Pro-welfare husbandry practices are vital for the biopsychosocial health of captive animals and long-term success of conservation breeding programmes (Hediger, 1958; Rabin, 2003; Teixeira et al., 2007; Broom, 2011). Studies show that animals housed under poor welfare conditions experience allostatic overload and chronic stress, that manifest as loss of behaviour diversity and cognitive abilities (Shepherdson, Carlstead & Wielebnowski, 2004; Kroshko et al., 2016; Razal, Pisacane & Miller, 2016), ultimately reducing their survival and reproductive potential (Broom, 1991; Schreck, 2010). Ideally conservation breeding programs should conduct periodic welfare evaluations for the improvement of incumbent housing and husbandry practices, and realign with conservation goals (Engel, 1980; Korte, Olivier & Koolhaas, 2007; Broom, 2011). In practice, ex-situ institutions continue to rely on unidimensional measures such as keeper ratings, physiological, and behavioural measures without accounting for individuality (Mason & Mendl, 2007; Boissy & Erhard, 2014; Chadwick, 2014). Intraspecific variations originating from personality (Locurto, 2006) and early-life experiences (Watters & Powell, 2012; Gartner, Powell & Weiss, 2016) determine the Umwelt of individuals (Loehlin, 1992; Stamps & Groothuis, 2010), affective states (Harding, Paul & Mendl, 2004; Boissy & Erhard, 2014), and ultimately welfare (Carere & Locurto, 2011; Izzo, Bashaw & Campbell, 2011). Inter-individual differences in bold/shy personality traits (Gartner, Powell &

105 Weiss, 2016; Gosling & John, 1999; Gartner & Powell, 2012; Gartner, Powell & Weiss,
106 2014) are associated with differential decision-making abilities (Carter et al., 2013),
107 cognition (Morton, Lee & Buchanan-Smith, 2013; Griffin, Guillette & Healy, 2015)
108 and coping responses to welfare deprivation (Koolhaas et al., 1999; Moneta & Spada,
109 2009, Goold & Newberry, 2017; Franks, Higgins & Champagne, 2014), and ultimately
110 have a bearing on post-release fitness (Bremner-Harrison, Prodohl & Elwood, 2004).
111 Early-life experiences can also have a bearing on the personality development of
112 animals (Ainsworth & Bowlby, 1991; Higley et al., 1991; Loehlin, 1992; Frost et al.,
113 2007; Stamps & Groothuis, 2010; Watters & Powell, 2012). Therefore, addressing
114 early-life experiences and personality profiles in welfare evaluation protocols can be
115 vital to the success of ex-situ conservation breeding programmes (Wemelsfelder, 1997;
116 Rabin, 2003). Unfortunately, parameters of individuality are seldom addressed while
117 designing housing and husbandry protocols for wild animals at conservation breeding
118 programmes. Focused multi-species studies are required to understand how personality
119 and early life-experiences (rearing-history) may be associated with behavioural welfare
120 measures. Using captive Asiatic lions as a study system, we tried to address the
121 association of individual variations (viz., bold-shy traits, rearing history, sex, social
122 grouping) with the behavioural welfare measures.

123 The endangered Asiatic lion (*Panthera leo persica*) is now relegated to a fraction of its
124 historic range, across scattered patches of the Greater Gir landscape of Gujarat, India
125 (Banerjee et al., 2013). With a global wild and captive population of about 523 and 359
126 individuals (Srivastav, 2014; Pant, 2015), the future survival of Asiatic lions can be
127 secured through a successful conservation-breeding program complemented by
128 repatriation across historic ranges (Jhala et al., 2006; Meena, 2009). While extensive
129 research on population ecology (Joslin, 1973; Jhala et al., 2009), behaviour (Meena,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: effect

Deleted: on

133 2008), social dynamics (Meena, 2009; Chakrabarti & Jhala, 2017), and human-animal
134 interaction (Joslin, 1973; Banerjee, Jhala & Pathak, 2010; Banerjee et al., 2013) of wild
135 Asiatic lions has been conducted, the captive populations and their welfare needs have
136 received relatively less attention. Pastorino et al., (2016, 2017) studied feline-keeper
137 interactions, personality variations, and behavioural aspects of welfare in captive
138 Asiatic lions at London Zoo, but were limited by a small sample size (~~N=~~4) and a short
139 study period. There is a paucity of information on detailed welfare status of captive
140 Asiatic lions despite a large ex-situ population spread among global zoological
141 institutions. ~~It is vital to standardize the~~ welfare evaluation practices ~~for this species~~ to
142 meet ~~its~~ long-term conservation ~~goals~~. Since Indian ex-situ facilities account for more
143 than 60 percent of the global captive Asiatic lion population (Srivastav, 2014), holistic
144 welfare assessments at these sites can have a tangible impact on the conservation goals
145 for the species.

146 We studied 35 Asiatic lions housed in the ex-situ conservation breeding centre of
147 Sakkarbaug Zoological Garden (SZG), Gujarat, India to understand if rearing-history
148 and personality are important factors predicting intraspecific variations in behavioural
149 welfare indices. We categorized these subjects based on their rearing histories (wild-
150 rescued and captive-raised), sex, social grouping (pair-housed and group-housed) and
151 personality traits (bold and shy). ~~We measured~~ species-typical behaviour diversity
152 (Powell, 1995; Wemelsfelder et al., 2000; Rabin, 2003; Clark & Melfi, 2012; Miller,
153 Pisacane & Vicino, 2016), space usage patterns (Kessel & Brent, 1996; Mallapur,
154 Qureshi & Chellam, 2002; Ross & Shender, 2016), latency to novel objects (Murphy,
155 1977; Meehan & Mench, 2002; Sneddon, Braithwaite & Gentle, 2003), and proportion
156 of aberrant behaviours (Mason, 2006; Tan et al., 2013; Japyassú & Malange, 2014;
157 Kroshko et al., 2016) to assess the ~~association~~ of individual variations ~~with~~ welfare

Deleted: n=

Deleted: , necessitating the standardisation of

Deleted:

Deleted: goals for this species

Deleted: ,

Deleted: and used

Deleted: impacts

Deleted: on

166 measures. We believe that this study will address knowledge gaps in animal welfare
167 evaluation procedures, leading to the adoption of individual-focused husbandry and
168 management practices at ex-situ endangered species conservation programmes.

169 **Materials & methods**

170 *Research permit and ethical considerations*

171 A research permit for this study was granted by the Gujarat Forest Department, India
172 (Permit no: WLP/28/A/1316-21/2015-16). This study complies with the regulations of
173 zoo animal welfare standards set by the Central Zoo Authority, Government of India.

174 *Study area*

175 We conducted the study at Sakkarbaug Zoological Garden (SZG), which is situated
176 within the natural range of Asiatic lions (*Panthera leo persica*). SZG is the coordinating
177 zoo for the Asiatic lion conservation-breeding programme in India and hosts the largest
178 captive population (N= 60) with the highest reported number of wild founders
179 (Srivastav, 2014). The conservation breeding programme aims to stock a healthy
180 population of captive Asiatic lions for possible repatriation to lost range habitats. The
181 zoo has a separate off-display conservation breeding facility, which houses 47 Asiatic
182 lions. A map (unscaled) of the off-display conservation breeding enclosures of SZG is
183 provided in Supplementary Figure 1.

184 *Subjects and housing*

185 We collected data from 38 (M=15, F=23) healthy Asiatic lions housed in the
186 conservation breeding facility of SZG. During the study we removed three individuals
187 (M=1, F=2) due to ongoing veterinary treatments, reducing our sample size to 35
188 individuals (M=14, F=21) (Table 1). The study subjects were either born in captivity
189 (N=16; 3:13) or rescued from wild (N=19; 11:8). Individuals born in the zoo (N= 14)
190 and rescued as cubs (N= 2) were categorized as captive-raised since they have similar

Deleted: R

Deleted: n=

Deleted: of wild

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: (Table 1)

Deleted: from the sample

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n

Deleted: n

202 life experiences. Cubs that were rescued at a young age and spent most of their lives in
203 captivity cannot have similar life-experiences as adult wild-rescued lions and hence
204 were grouped in the captive-raised category. Most wild-rescued lions were rehabilitated
205 as adults for treatment of injuries incurred due to infighting, and after making full
206 recovery were assimilated in the conservation breeding programme. Some wild-rescued
207 animals (~~N=~~3) were rescued to ameliorate conflict caused by livestock depredation. All
208 subjects were either pair housed (~~N~~=17) or housed in a sex ratio of 1:2 (~~N~~= 18). All
209 subjects (including the wild-rescued lions) were in socially cohesive groups and were
210 housed in the same enclosure (with the same enclosure mates) for at least a year prior
211 to the commencement of the study. This facility provided us with a unique opportunity
212 to study the behaviour of wild-rescued and captive-raised lions under similar housing
213 conditions.

214 Subjects were housed in 15 naturalistic enclosures spread across 8-ha area resembling
215 the habitat of Asiatic lions. All enclosures were similar in design, devoid of enrichment
216 devices, evenly populated with leafy trees (for shade and cover) and provided similar
217 enclosure space per animal (400m²), ensuring uniformity of housing conditions for all
218 subjects. Due to the absence of complexity and an active enrichment intervention
219 programme, all enclosures were deemed functionally barren to the subjects. The
220 enclosure sizes ranged from 1100-6542m², with an average size of (~~M~~=1970, SD=
221 1685.24m²). Only one enclosure was 6542m² in size, and most other enclosures were
222 similar in sizes (M =1424, SD= 224m²). All enclosures included outdoor (paddocks)
223 and indoor (retiring/feeding cells) areas (3m x 3m x 2m dimensions) with continuous
224 access to drinking water. Enclosure barriers consisted of v-shaped dry moats with walls
225 at the proximal side and chain-linked fences with dual overhangs (4m high) on the other
226 three sides. Adjacent enclosures were separated by visual barriers in the form of dense

Deleted: n

Deleted: =

Deleted: n

Deleted: n

Deleted: =

232 bamboo thickets. Subjects were confined to feeding cubicles only during feeding time
233 and had free access to all enclosure areas (including feeding cubicles) for the rest of the
234 day. Subjects were fed separately at the indoor cubicles between 1700-1900 hours six
235 days a week, with a fast on Sundays. Subjects were fed in-house slaughtered and
236 quality-inspected buffalo meat. The average meat consumption was 3.5 kg (SD=0.5 kg)
237 for females (N=21) and 4.9 kg (SD=1.4 kg) for males (N=14). Most subjects were
238 group-housed (1:2) (N=18) or pair-housed (1:1) (N=20). Four subjects were iso-
239 sexually paired which included two male lions (2:0) and a mother-daughter dyad (0:2).
240 A group of animal keepers carried out all husbandry work for the subjects on a
241 rotational basis, which meant that all subjects were accustomed to the same group of
242 keepers. Because the conservation breeding area is off-display and restricts access to
243 unauthorized personnel, subjects' interactions with humans were limited to keeper
244 interactions. The animal-keepers had trained the subjects to respond to their house
245 names and vocal instructions for moving in and out of the feeding cubicles.

246 *Study design*

247 We aimed to answer two broad research questions in this study; (a) how differences in
248 bold/shy personality traits, rearing history, sex, and social grouping are associated with
249 variations in behavioural welfare outcomes in a group of captive Asiatic lions? (b) How
250 are the behavioural welfare indices (viz., enclosure usage, behaviour diversity, and
251 aberrant repetitive behaviours) interlinked?

252 To answer the above questions, we categorized subjects and recorded outcomes of
253 welfare measures. The detailed design for the study is given below.

254 a. *Personality assessment*

255 We adopted a combination of keeper-rating and behaviour-coding techniques to
256 reliably assess personality traits (Funder & Colvin, 1988; Funder, 1995; Gosling &

Deleted: =

Deleted: n=

Deleted: =

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: (n

Deleted:

Deleted: Since

Deleted: can lead to

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

266 Vazire, 2002; Highfill et al., 2010; Gartner & Powell, 2011). We separately interviewed
 267 three animal keepers with at least ten years of work experience to rate 38 subjects
 268 (15:23) on a scale of 1-9 (1-very low and 9- very high) for pre-selected bold (N=10)
 269 and shy traits (N=10) (Supplementary table 1). We found that all keepers agreed on
 270 their ratings for subjects (high inter-rater reliability, Cronbach's alpha > 0.8). First, we
 271 averaged all keeper ratings (N=3) for subject-wise all personality traits. Next, we
 272 calculated the average rating on bold (N=10) and shy (N=10) traits for each subject.
 273 Subjects that received an average score above seven on bold traits were categorized as
 274 bold, whereas an average rating above seven on shy traits were categorized as shy
 275 individual.
 276 To validate keeper ratings for personality traits of subjects (bold/shy), we implemented
 277 a behavioural coding method through novel-object tests in day kraals for ten minutes
 278 using video recorders in the absence of keepers and observers (Highfill et al., 2010).
 279 Naive observers (N= 3) with no prior exposure to study subjects, recorded the latency
 280 of subjects to interact with novel objects (Sih, Bell & Johnson, 2004; Frost et al., 2007)
 281 and percentage of bold vs shy behaviours (Powell & Svoke, 2008; Gartner & Powell,
 282 2011; Corsetti et al., 2018) performed by the subjects during these tests (Supplementary
 283 Table 2 & 3). During these tests, the subjects were exposed to (a) unknown
 284 conspecifics, (b) unknown person and (c) non-food novel objects (lion-sam ball and
 285 bungee cord). All novel-object tests were conducted in an open-air day kraal adjacent
 286 to the paddock area of the enclosures. For the first test, we simultaneously released two
 287 subjects (same sex but unknown to one another) at adjacent day kraals and recorded
 288 their reactions to encountering a same-sex unknown conspecific. The latency counter
 289 was started as soon as both lions were released inside their respective day kraals. For
 290 the second test, we released the subject inside the day kraal and had a volunteer

Deleted: A

Deleted:

Deleted: (n=3) were asked

Deleted: personality traits on the bold-shy

Deleted: continuum

Deleted: T

Deleted:).

Deleted: indicated by a

Deleted: for all subjects

Deleted: .We categorized subjects as bold if average keeper rating was above seven for bold traits.

Deleted: .

Deleted: Subjects that received

Deleted: shy traits were grouped in the shy category.

Deleted: ascertain

Deleted:

Deleted: using

Deleted: the

Deleted: , we conducted

Deleted: n

Deleted: ;

312 (unknown to the lion and not wearing a keeper's uniform) approach the kraal, and stop
313 at the median section facing the day kraal for ten minutes. The volunteer did not make
314 any eye contact or vocal communication with the animal. The latency counter was
315 started as soon as the volunteer reached the day kraal. For the final test, we placed a
316 novel object (lion-sam ball or bungee cord) at the centre of the enclosure, and then
317 released the subject inside the day kraal. The latency counter was started when the
318 subject was released inside the day kraal. Observers used focal animal sampling
319 (Altmann, 1974) to calculate the duration of all behavioural states and events performed
320 by subjects during each of these tests. These focal observations were used to calculate
321 the percentage of bold and shy behaviours performed by subjects (Supplementary Table
322 3). We tested each subject separately to avoid confounding personality with dominance.
323 We conducted the latency tests simultaneously for 12 individuals daily between 0900-
324 1100 hours. Since we did not want to overwhelm the animals with multiple novel
325 stimuli on a single day, three sessions of novel-object tests were conducted for each
326 subject on consecutive days. The novel object tests were conducted for ten minutes, and
327 if subjects failed to approach the novel object after five minutes, they were categorized
328 as shy. We repeated the novel object tests with unknown human and novel objects after
329 a month to check for trait consistency and calculated the average latency values for each
330 subject. In the first session, lion-sam ball was used as the novel object, which was
331 replaced in the second session with a hanging bungee cord. The order of the latency
332 tests was kept the same for all subjects. Three Asiatic lions undergoing veterinary
333 treatments for physical injuries (Male=1, Female=2)) showed inconsistencies in trait
334 measures across different sessions. We excluded these animals from the study, thus
335 reducing the number of subjects to 35 individuals (Male=14, Female=21). We found
336 that keepers (N=3) and observers (N=3) reliably agreed on the personality type

Deleted: We

Deleted:

Deleted: .

Moved (insertion) [2]

Deleted: 1:2

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Moved up [2]: Three Asiatic lions undergoing veterinary treatments for physical injuries (1:2) showed inconsistencies in trait measures across different sessions. We excluded these animals from the study, thus reducing the number of subjects to 35 individuals (Male = 14, Female = 21).

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted:

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

(Cronbach's $\alpha > 0.9$) of these 35 subjects. These subjects were further categorized based on rearing history (wild-caught=19, captive-raised=16), sex (Male=14, Female=21), and social grouping (pair-housed=17, group-housed=18).

b. Behaviour Data collection

For behaviour data collection, we used pre-existing ethograms for felids (Powell, 1995; Stanton, Sullivan & Fazio, 2015) and modified them to include unique behaviours displayed by subjects (Table 2). Two independent observers collected all behaviour data. To minimize inter-observer bias, behaviour recording was commenced after inter-observer reliability reached satisfactory levels from the same group of animals (Cronbach's $\alpha > 0.9$) (Caro et al., 1979; Gliem & Gliem, 2003). We recorded ten hour-long behaviour observation sessions (for four subjects) and found one-minute instantaneous scans (Altmann, 1974; Amato, Van Belle & Wilkinson, 2013) were comparable to focal animal behaviour observation data (Altmann, 1974; Gilby, Pokempner & Wrangham, 2010; Amato, Van Belle & Wilkinson, 2013) in recording behavioural states and events for multiple subjects. We chose instantaneous scans as it provided a good balance between data-accuracy and observer fatigue. We recorded behaviour at three different time periods: 0500-1100 hours, 1300-1800 hours and 2200-0500 hours in six-hour blocks. During each six-hour block, we conducted four one-hour sessions of instantaneous scans at one-minute intervals for one-hour duration followed by a 15-minute rest. During each scan, we recorded the behavioural state of the subject and its location in the enclosure. All occurrences of behaviour events were recorded separately. We used the frequencies of behavioural states and events to measure behaviour diversity of each subject during an observation session (one hour). We measured the directionality of all social interactions between subjects to gain a better understanding of the social cohesiveness of each enclosure group. We also video

recorded behaviour observation sessions, which were used to fill any potential gaps in observer recording of instantaneous scans. We gathered a total of 2,009 hours of behaviour observation data (average data of 57 hours/subject) across 486 observation days. We collected information on the following behavioural welfare indices:

1. Enclosure usage

Enclosure use is a critical behavioural parameter that is influenced by the biological relevance of different zones of the captive environment (Traylor-Holzer & Fritz, 1985; Plowman, 2003; Rose & Robert, 2013; Ross & Shender, 2016). Homogenous usage is indicative of a complex and novel enclosure design (Ross et al., 2009; Mallapur, Qureshi & Chellam, 2002; Rose & Robert, 2013) which are considered more important drivers of welfare than enclosure area (Traylor-Holzer & Fritz, 1985). We divided each enclosure into ten equal zones, which included three broad zones viz. a) proximal, b) medial, and c) distal zones. Each of these broad zones was further subdivided into three smaller zones as i) left, ii) middle, and iii) right. The tenth zone was the paddock area next to the retiring cell (Figure 1). We recorded the enclosure zone location of subjects during each scan. We calculated the spread of participation index (SPI) (Plowman, 2003) of enclosure usage for all 35 subjects across 486 observation days using instantaneous scan data. We calculated the SPI values using the following formula:

$$SPI = \frac{\sum |f_o - f_e|}{2(N - f_{min})}$$

where f_o stands for the observed frequency of usage of enclosure zones, f_e stands for the expected frequency of enclosure usage. N stands for gross observations in all zones of the enclosure and f_{min} stands for the expected frequency of observation for the smallest zone (Plowman, 2003). SPI measures indicate the homogeneity of space usage. A high SPI value (close to 1) indicates that subjects are biased towards certain areas of

409 the enclosure, while a lower SPI value (close to 0.5 or lower) indicates that lions use
410 most areas of the enclosure equitably.

411 It is noteworthy to point out that social animals like lions are likely to have hierarchies
412 and dominant animals are likely to monopolize preferred areas, but an ideal enclosure
413 should provide equal opportunities for exploration and free movement to all
414 individuals. In this study, we aimed to measure the enclosure zone usage pattern of each
415 subject in a social configuration to ascertain how it met individual welfare requirements
416 and related to other welfare indices.

417 **2. Species-typical behaviour diversity**

418 Behaviour diversity is indicative of the scope of novelty, and complexity afforded to
419 animals in captivity (Wemelsfelder et al., 2000; Haskell et al., 2018). Maintaining
420 behaviour diversity of captive animals housed at breeding programmes is essential for
421 the preservation of essential learned behaviours required for post-release survival
422 (Rabin, 2003). Complex and cognitively enriching enclosures have been shown to
423 stimulate captive animals to display a diverse behaviour repertoire (Spiezio et al.,
424 2018). We used Shannon-Weiner diversity index (SWI) to measure species-typical
425 behaviour diversity as this approach considers both richness and evenness of species-
426 typical behaviours in the data set (Clark & Melfi, 2012; Miller, Pisacane & Vicino,
427 2016; Spiezio et al., 2018). We compiled an ethogram of all behaviour states and events
428 observed from all subjects during the study period (Table 2). We pooled all behaviour
429 observations of each subject to calculate behaviour diversity. We excluded aberrant
430 repetitive behaviours from the calculations since they did not qualify as species-typical
431 behaviours.

3. Aberrant repetitive behaviours (ARB)

Aberrant repetitive behaviours (ARB) are reliable measures of poor welfare conditions (Dawkins & Hill, 2004; Watters, 2009; Kroshko et al., 2016) as they are precursors of cognitive dysfunction and neurophysiological changes (Muehlmann & Lewis, 2012). For this study, we measured the proportion of scans spent by each subject performing ARBs as an indicator of poor welfare (Mason & Latham, 2004). ARBs mostly included, stereotypic swaying, pacing, and nose rubbing behaviours (Table 2). We did not record anticipatory displacement behaviours, for example, pacing before feeding (Watters, 2014) or during interaction with conspecifics as ARB. We considered behaviours persisting over five consecutive scans and without an observer-discernible cause as ARB. Therefore, displacement behaviours performed before feeding time, or in response to keeper activities were not considered as aberrant repetitive behaviours.

Data analysis

We tested the following hypotheses in this study:

1. There would be no variations in behaviour indices between male and female subjects and the measures would perform uniformly for both sexes.
2. The wild-rescued lions would display higher behaviour diversity than captive-raised animals.
3. Bold individuals would differ in behavioural welfare indices compared to shy individuals.
4. There would be no difference in behavioural welfare parameters between pair-housed and group-housed subjects.
5. There will be no significant prediction of behavioural diversity by the proportion of aberrant repetitive behaviour and the enclosure usage patterns of subjects.

457 We used R statistical software version 3.4 and 3.5.2 through RStudio (RStudio, 2015)
458 using packages, dplyr (Wickham & Francois, 2016), ggplot2 (Wickham, 2015), lm,
459 lubridate (Spinu, Grolemond & Wickham, 2018), tidyverse (Wickham, 2017), and
460 funModeling (Casas, 2019). For exploratory data analyses, we used the Shapiro-Wilk
461 test and Levene's test to ascertain the normal distribution and homogeneity of variance
462 in SPI, SWI, latency and ARB values, respectively. We conducted bivariate Pearson's
463 correlation to ascertain the strength of association between four above-mentioned
464 welfare indices. We also checked for correlation between enclosure area and zone
465 usage bias.

466 For statistical analysis, we had four categorical predictor variables (personality trait,
467 rearing history, sex, and social grouping), each with two levels (viz. bold & shy, wild-
468 rescued & captive-raised, male & female and pair-housed & group-housed). We
469 compared welfare indices across groups (categorical predictor variables) using
470 independent samples t-tests for normally distributed dependent variables (enclosure
471 usage, behaviour diversity, and ARBs). We used non-parametric Kolmogorov-Smirnov
472 test for latency measures and the proportion of bold and shy behaviours performed by
473 subjects during the novel object test. When comparing between means of two groups
474 with different sample sizes, it is important to report effect sizes in addition to p-values
475 to indicate the scale-independent degree of difference. We calculated effect sizes to
476 quantify differences in welfare measures between groups (Cohen, 1992; Lakens, 2013).
477 Finally, we conducted multiple regression analysis to understand how the behaviour
478 diversity of captive animals were predicted by their enclosure usage patterns and ARB
479 levels. Before conducting a regression analysis, we checked for multicollinearity
480 between independent variables using measures of VIF (variance inflation factor). Since

Deleted: sublevels

Deleted: within each group

enclosure usage and ARBs were not highly correlated, we used them as predictors for behaviour diversity in regression analysis.

Deleted: correlated

Results

A. Validation of keeper ratings

The mean latency times for all subjects after averaging both trials was 47.76 seconds (SD=46.85). Subjects categorized as bold by keepers (M=11.13, SD=3.65, N=21) showed significantly lower latency values ($z=2.89$, $p<0.01$, Cohen's $d=7.28$) compared to subjects categorized as shy (M=102.71, SD=17.4, N=14) (Table 3, Figure 2). Bold subjects also showed significantly higher percentage of bold behaviours (M=87.24, SD=8.74) than shy individuals (M=15.86, SD=9.5) ($t(33)=-10.57$, $p<0.01$) (Supplementary Table 3). These results validate the keeper rating of subjects on the bold-shy scale.

Formatted: Space After: 6 pt

Formatted

Deleted: Subjects categorized as bold by keepers (M=11.13, SD=3.65, N=21) compared to subjects categorized as shy (M=102.71, SD=17.4, N=14), showed significantly lower latency values ($z=2.89$, $p<0.01$, Cohen's $d=7.28$) (Table 3, Figure 2). ...Subjects categorized as bold by keepers

Formatted

Deleted: This helped us

Moved (insertion) [1]

Deleted: Latency was positively correlated (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4) to enclosure zone bias ($r=0.67$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$), and proportion of ARBs ($r=0.70$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$). Latency was negatively correlated to behaviour diversity ($r=-0.67$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$). ¶

¶ Latency to novel object

B. Comparison of welfare measures across categorical independent variables

Latency to novel objects

Captive-raised individuals (M=18.61, SD=21.55, N=16) displayed significantly ($z=1.86$, $p=0.02$, Cohen's $d=1.42$) lower latency compared to wild-rescued individuals (M=72.30, SD=48.7, N=19) (Table 3, Figure 2). We found no difference in latency scores between male (M=37.02, SD=45, N=14) and female (M=54.9, SD=47.8, N=21) subjects ($z=0.89$, $p=0.39$, Cohen's $d=0.38$). Latency values did not vary significantly between pair-housed (M=55.14, SD=48.2, N=17) and group-housed (M=40.78, SD=45.81, N=18) lions ($z=0.9$, $p=0.31$, Cohen's $d=0.3$).

Deleted: The mean latency for all subjects after averaging both trials was 47.76 seconds (SD=46.85). Subjects categorized as bold by keepers showed significantly higher percentage of bold behaviours (M = 87.24, SD= 8.74) than shy individuals (M = 15.86, SD= 9.5) during the novel object tests ($t(33)=-10.57$, $p=0.001$) (Supplementary Table 3). Captive-raised individuals (M=18.61, SD=21.55, $n=16$) displayed significantly ($z=1.86$, $p=0.02$, Cohen's $d=1.42$) lower latency compared to wild-rescued individuals (M=72.30, SD=48.7, $n=19$) (Table 3, Figure 2). Bold subjects (M=11.13, SD=3.65, $n=21$) compared to shy individuals (M=102.71, SD=17.4, $n=14$), showed significantly lower latency values ($z=2.89$, $p=0.0001$, Cohen's $d=7.28$) (Table 3, Figure 2). ...e found no difference in latency scores between male (M=37.02, SD=45, $n=14$) and female (M=54.9, SD=47.8, $n=21$) subjects ($z=0.89$, $p=0.39$, Cohen's $d=0.38$). Latency values did not vary significantly between pair-housed (M=55.14, SD=48.2, $N=17$) and group-housed (M=40.78, SD=45.81, $N=18$) lions ($z=0.9$, $p=0.31$, Cohen's $d=0.3$).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: ...

Moved up [1]: Latency was positively correlated (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4) to enclosure zone bias ($r=0.67$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$), and proportion of ARBs ($r=0.70$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$). Latency was negatively correlated to behaviour diversity ($r=-0.67$, $n=35$, $p=0.001$). ¶

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Normal

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: n=

Enclosure usage

Enclosure space usage patterns varied significantly between subjects with different personality types and rearing histories. Wild-rescued individuals used enclosure space less homogeneously (M=0.67, SD=0.15, N=19) than captive-raised individuals

(M=0.47, SD=0.12, N=16) (t (33) =4.28, p<0.01, Cohen's d=1.47) (Table 3, Figure 2).
 Subjects with bold personality traits showed significantly less enclosure-zone bias
 (M=0.5, SD=0.12, N=21) compared to individuals with shy traits (M=0.71, SD=0.15,
N=14) (t (33) =-4.572, p<0.01, Cohen's d=1.54). Overall, the SPI value of males
 (M=0.61, SD=0.20, N=14) was not significantly different from female (M=0.57,
 SD=0.15, N=21) lions (t (33)=5.28, p<0.01, Cohen's d=0.17). The enclosure usage
 patterns of group-housed (M=0.56, SD=0.19, N=18) and pair-housed subjects (M=0.60,
 SD=0.13, N=17) (t (33)=0.69, p=0.49, Cohen's d=0.22) were similar.

Species-typical behaviour diversity

We found that species-typical behaviour diversity of captive-raised animals (M=1.26,
 SD=0.3, N=16) was significantly higher than wild-rescued animals (M=0.83, SD=0.35,
N=19) (t (33) =-3.94, p<0.01, Cohen's d=1.35) (Table 3, Figure 2). Further, bold
 subjects displayed higher behaviour diversity (M=1.23, SD=0.26, N=21) than shy
 individuals (M=0.73, SD=0.34, N=14) (t (33)=4.89, p<0.01, Cohen's d=1.64) (Table 3,
 Figure 2). Behaviour diversity levels were similar between male (M=0.96, SD=0.43,
N=14) and female (M=1.1, SD=0.35, n=21) lions (t (33)=0.85, p=0.4). Group-housed
 (M=1.06, SD=0.42, n=18) and pair housed subjects (M=0.99, SD=0.33, n=17) showed
 similar levels of behaviour diversity (t (33)=0.64, p=0.64, Cohen's d=0.18).

Aberrant repetitive behaviours (ARB)

Wild-rescued individuals (M=13.12, SD=6.25, N=19) expressed higher proportions of
 ARBs than captive-raised individuals (M=7.74, SD=5.3, N=16) (t (33) =2.71, p=0.01,
 Cohen's d=0.92) (Table 3, Figure 2). Bold individuals (N=21) showed significantly
 lower levels of stereotypic behaviour such as pacing and swaying (M=7.01, SD=4,
N=21) compared to shy individuals (M=16.13, SD=5.4, N=14) (t (33) =-5.82, p<0.01,
 Cohen's d=1.94) (Table 3, Figure 2). We found no difference in the expression of ARBs

Deleted: n=...=16) (t (33) =4.28, p=0.0001...0.01, Cohen's d=1.47) (Table 3, Figure 2). Subjects with bold personality traits showed significantly less enclosure-zone bias (M=0.5, SD=0.12, n=...=21) compared to individuals with shy traits (M=0.71, SD=0.15, n=...=14) (t (33) =-4.572, p=0.0001...0.01, Cohen's d=1.54). Overall, the SPI value of males (M=0.61, SD=0.20, n=...=14) was not significantly different from female (M=0.57, SD=0.15, n=...=21) lions (t (33) =...5.28, p=...0.6, Cohen's d=...0.17). The enclosure usage patterns of group-housed (M=...0.56, SD=...0.19, Nn8) and pair-housed subjects (M=...0.60, SD=...0.13, Nn7) (t (33) =...-0.69, p=...0.49, Cohen's d=...

Deleted: Enclosure zone bias was positively correlated with latency values (r=0.66, p=0.001), and proportion of ARBs (r=0.66 p=0.001) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4), but was negatively correlated with behaviour diversity (r=-0.71, p=0.001). Majority of the enclosures were similar in size and largely barren in terms of functionality. We found that enclosure zone bias was weakly positively correlated to enclosure size (r=0.36, p=0.05). ¶

Deleted: n=...=16) was significantly higher than wild-rescued animals (M=0.83, SD=0.35, n=...

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: p=0.001... Cohen's d=1.35) (Table 3, Figure 2). Further, bold subjects displayed higher behaviour diversity (M=1.23, SD=0.26, n=...=21) than shy individuals (M=0.73, SD=0.34, n=...=14) (t (33) =...4.897

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: p=0.0001... Cohen's d=1.64) (Table 3, Figure 2). Behaviour diversity levels were similar between male (M=0.96, SD=0.43, n=...=14) and female (M=1.1, SD=0.35, n=21) lions (t (33) =...-0.85, p=...0.4). Group-housed (M=...1.06, SD=...0.42, n=...18) and pair housed subjects (M=...0.99, SD=...0.33, n=...

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: = ...0.64, p=

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: =

Deleted: Behaviour diversity was negatively correlated with latency to novel objects, (r=-0.67, p=0.01), ARBs (r=0.91, p=0.01), and enclosure usage (r=-0.71, p=0.01) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4). Multiple regression analysis (Table 5) indicated that ARBs and space usage homogeneity explained 85% of the variance in the behaviour diversity (R²=0.85, F (2,32) = 90.92, p=0.001) (Table 5). The predicted regression equation is Behaviour diversity = 1.8 + (-0.046) x (ARB) + (-0.46) x (Enclosure usage). The results from the regression indicate that subjects that show less ARB and use enclosure space more homogeneously are likely to have higher behaviour diversity. ¶

Deleted: n=...=19) expressed higher proportions of ARBs than captive-raised individuals (M=7.74, SD=5.3, n=...=16) (t (33) =2.71, p=0.01, Cohen's d=0.92) (Table 3, Figure 2). Bold individuals (n=...=21) showed significantly lower levels of stereotypic behaviour such as pacing and swaying (M=7.01, SD=4, n=...=21) compared to shy individuals (M=16.13, SD=5.4, n=...=14) (t (33) =-5.82, p<0.01 p=0.01

between male ($M=11.04$, $SD=7.05$, $N=14$) and female ($M=10.41$, $SD=6.02$, $N=21$) subjects ($t(33) = 0.282$, $p=0.78$, Cohen's $d=0.09$), as well as between group-housed ($M=10.02$, $SD=6.69$, $n=17$) and pair-housed subjects ($M=11.33$, $SD=6.12$, $n=17$) ($t(33) = -0.6$, $p=0.55$, Cohen's $d=0.2$).

C. Inter-relationship between welfare indices

Latency was positively correlated (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4) to enclosure zone bias ($r=0.67$, $N=35$, $p<0.01$), and proportion of ARBs ($r=0.70$, $N=35$, $p<0.01$). Latency was negatively correlated to behaviour diversity ($r=-0.67$, $N=35$, $p<0.01$). Enclosure zone bias was positively correlated with latency values ($r=0.66$, $p<0.01$), and proportion of ARBs ($r=0.66$, $p<0.01$) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4), but was negatively correlated with behaviour diversity ($r=-0.71$, $p<0.01$). We found that enclosure zone bias was weakly positively correlated to enclosure size ($r=0.36$, $p=0.05$). Behaviour diversity was negatively correlated with latency to novel objects, ($r=-0.67$, $p=0.01$), ARBs ($r=0.91$, $p=0.01$), and enclosure usage ($r=-0.71$, $p=0.01$) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4). ARB was positively correlated with latency to novel objects ($r=0.70$, $p=0.01$), and enclosure usage ($r=0.66$, $p=0.01$) but was negatively correlated with behaviour diversity ($r=-0.91$, $p=0.01$) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4).

Multiple regression analysis (Table 5) indicated that ARBs and space usage homogeneity explained 85% of the variance in the behaviour diversity ($R^2=0.85$, $F(2,32)=90.92$, $p<0.01$) (Table 5). The predicted regression equation is Behaviour diversity = $1.8 + (-0.046) \times (\text{ARB}) + (-0.46) \times (\text{Enclosure usage})$. The results from the regression indicate that subjects that show less ARB and use enclosure space more homogeneously are likely to have higher behaviour diversity.

Deleted: n=

Deleted: n=

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: =

Deleted: Majority of the enclosures were similar in size and largely barren in terms of functionality.

Moved (insertion) [3]

Moved up [3]: ARB was positively correlated with latency to novel objects ($r=0.70$, $p=0.01$), and enclosure usage ($r=0.66$, $p=0.01$) but was negatively correlated with behaviour diversity ($r=-0.91$, $p=0.01$) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4).

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first empirical study to showcase the effects of personality traits in wild-rescued and captive-raised Asiatic lions across multiple behavioural welfare measures. Our sample size constitutes 10% of the global captive stock of Asiatic lions, making the results relevant for the global conservation initiatives for this species. Several studies have asserted the importance of multiple indices for welfare assessment at zoos and conservation breeding programmes viz., behaviour diversity (Powell, 1995; Clark & Melfi, 2012), enclosure usage (Ross et al., 2009; Kistler et al., 2010) and stereotypy in captive animals (Dawkins, 2004; Kroshko et al., 2016; Clegg, 2018). However, most ex-situ institutions continue to use uni-dimensional measures to assess welfare and seldom address individuality (Van der Harst & Spruijt, 2007; Volpato et al., 2009; Hill & Broom, 2009; McMahon et al, 2013) . We addressed this issue by showcasing the importance of an individual-focused multi-dimensional approach to welfare assessments. Overall, Asiatic lions with different personality traits (bold and shy) and rearing-history (captive-raised and wild-rescued) differed significantly on measures of welfare, which supports earlier studies linking animal welfare with individuality (Carere & Locurto, 2011; Gartner & Powell, 2012; Boissy & Erhard, 2014; Gartner, Powell & Weiss, 2016). We did not observe any sex-specific variations in behavioural welfare measures of the subjects, confirming our first hypothesis. Contrary to our second hypothesis, wild-rescued lions showed low behaviour diversity, high enclosure-use bias, increased stereotypy and higher latency to novel objects compared to captive-raised subjects. Our results contradict existing research findings that report wild-rescued animals to be less likely to develop stereotypies than captive-raised individuals, while not accounting for animal personality (Cooper & Nicol, 1996; Schoenecker, Heller & Freimanis, 2000). It is

Deleted: ARB was positively correlated with latency to novel objects ($r=0.70$, $p=0.01$), and enclosure usage ($r = 0.66$, $p = 0.01$) but was negatively correlated with behaviour diversity ($r=-0.91$, $p=0.01$) (Supplementary Figure 2, Table 4).¶

838 possible that such pattern in our study is driven by higher proportion of shy individuals
839 (~~N~~=12) in the wild-rescued category compared to the captive-raised subjects (~~N~~=2).
840 Nevertheless, these results clearly show that wild-rescued lions may not necessarily be
841 at a better state of welfare by default when compared to captive-raised individuals under
842 similar housing conditions. Further empirical studies with equal sampling across bold
843 and shy continuum between captive-raised and wild-rescued individuals are required to
844 confirm these patterns. Our results supported the third hypothesis that lions with bold
845 personalities are more resilient to functionally barren housing conditions than shy
846 subjects, which supports earlier studies (Cole et al., 2014; Japyassú & Malange, 2014).
847 Moreover, present welfare assessment protocols often do not consider individual
848 requirements as modifiers for species-specific husbandry practices. The association of
849 animal personality with welfare outcomes (Izzo, Bashaw & Campbell, 2011; Coelho,
850 de Azevedo & Young, 2012; Razal, Pisacane & Miller, 2016) and its implications for
851 post-release survival (Bremner-Harrison, Prodohl & Elwood, 2004; Watters & Meehan,
852 2007) are well documented. This study aligns with the conservation goals for Asiatic
853 lions by addressing individuality in welfare assessment (Rabin, 2003; Izzo, Bashaw &
854 Campbell, 2011; Coelho, de Azevedo & Young, 2012; Razal, Pisacane & Miller, 2016).
855 Group-housed and pair-housed subjects were similar across all behavioural welfare
856 indices, supporting our fourth hypothesis. Although the enclosures were aesthetically
857 pleasing, appropriate in terms of size, naturalistic vegetation and social grouping of
858 animals; the abject lack of multisensory stimulation in terms of enrichment and novel
859 experiences rendered them functionally barren to the subjects. In this study, we
860 measured the evenness of enclosure use, which considers the functional space of the
861 enclosure rather than available space. We found that small variations in enclosure sizes
862 do not predict behavioural welfare in Asiatic lions, which is in line with previous studies

Deleted: n

Deleted: n

Deleted: =

Deleted: effects

Deleted: on

Deleted: affect

Deleted: of

Deleted: can be explained by

Deleted: Since

869 that place more importance on enclosure design (Tan et al., 2013), complexity and
870 species-appropriateness than enclosure area (Rose & Robert, 2013; Herrelko,
871 Buchanan - Smith & Vick, 2015; Neal Webb, Hau & Schapiro, 2018). The correlation
872 between enclosure size and space usage bias was weak but positive, which means that
873 increasing enclosure sizes were associated with higher zone-usage bias. This underlines
874 the urgent need to provide complex captive environments that promote homogenous
875 space usage and stimulate expression of species-typical behaviours.

876 Bivariate correlations and regression model presented in this study underline strong
877 inter-linkages between behaviour diversity, enclosure usage and ARBs (Rabin, 2003;
878 Melotti et al., 2011; Rose & Robert, 2013; Kroshko et al., 2016). Our results provided
879 evidence that behaviour diversity is associated with level of ARB and space usage
880 patterns, which is in line with findings from existing studies (Wemelsfelder et al., 2000;
881 Watters, Margulis & Atsalis, 2009; Clark & Melfi, 2012). From our results, it can be
882 surmised that subjects that are under less stress (low ARB) are likely to show
883 homogenous enclosure space usage and a diverse behaviour repertoire. Zoo managers
884 must pay close attention to the development of high enclosure-zone biases (Ross et al.,
885 2009) conjugated with low behaviour diversity (Clark & Melfi, 2011; Rose & Robert,
886 2013) as that may develop into severe levels of ARBs (Konjević et al., 2015). Overall,
887 these findings indicate that behavioural welfare measures (enclosure usage, behaviour
888 diversity, and ARB) have strong interlinkages and vary across inter-individual
889 differences (viz., personality, rearing-history, sex, and social grouping). Zoo managers
890 must take a proactive approach to improve the welfare status of captive Asiatic lions.

891 Because enrichment interventions are effective in bringing complexity to sterile
892 enclosures (Swaigood & Shepherdson, 2005), tailored-enrichment interventions must
893 be integrated with husbandry practices for Asiatic lions (Powell, 1995; Cannon et al.,

2016). Studies also show that positive keeper-animal relationships can improve welfare (Whitham & Wielebnowski, 2013). Finally, regular behaviour monitoring of captive wild animals should be incorporated into the husbandry practices to improve welfare and prevent development of stereotypy (Watters, Margulis & Atsalis, 2009).

CONCLUSION

Felids are among the most represented taxa across zoological institutions, which necessitate a uniform protocol for welfare evaluation (Szokalski, Litchfield & Foster, 2013). Our findings underline the importance of individual-tailored husbandry design (Boissy & Erhard, 2014) to promote animal welfare at conservation breeding centers (Dawkins, 1990; Fraser & Duncan, 1998; Bateson & Matheson, 2007; Fraser, 2009; McMohan et al., 2013). Our results highlight that assessments of personality traits, enclosure usage patterns, behavioural diversity and stereotypy measurement as cost-effective and non-invasive tools that can reliably diagnose welfare needs in captive wild animals (Broom, 1991; Mason & Mendl, 2007) and conduct post-occupancy evaluations of enclosures (Wilson et al., 2003). These assessments can also help in effective management of endangered species through personality-matched pairings for breeding success (Fox & Millam, 2014; Martin-Wintle et al., 2017), and profiling of individuals most suited for repatriation (Bremner-Harrison, Prodohl & Elwood, 2004; Watters & Meehan, 2007).

More specifically for Asiatic lions, Indian and Southeast Asian zoos account for more than 60% of the global captive Asiatic lion population (Srivastav, 2014). Unlike many European or North American zoological institutions, most Indian zoos are state-funded and follow husbandry guidelines delineated by governmental animal-welfare agencies. Current governmental policies and guidelines for managing captive wild animals in Indian zoos do not explicitly consider inter-individual variations in animal welfare

Deleted: are

Deleted: tools

Deleted: to

practises. Even existing studies on captive African (Powell, 1995; Watters & Powell, 2012) and Asiatic lions (Pastorino et al., 2016, 2017) have not translated into tangible shift in ongoing husbandry practises. Our findings provide strong scientific evidence that can lead to a paradigm shift in Government policies towards animal management in the Indian zoos and the global conservation breeding programmes. These results will be crucial to the large-scale uptake of individual-focused welfare assessment practices at Indian zoos. Such policy-level changes to animal welfare guidelines will strengthen ex-situ conservation practices in this region. Future cross-institutional studies on how internal (physiology) or external factors (enrichment interventions) interact with personality to predict welfare outcomes can shed light on some of the trends highlighted in this study. We hope that this study encourages managers and biologists to revisit traditional husbandry protocols and change them to meet the cognitive needs of individual animals under their care.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. A. P. Singh, Chief Conservator of Forest, Junagadh for providing research permits and Gujarat Forest Department and Sakkarbaug Zoological Garden for logistical support in this study. We are thankful to Salim Chuvan and Ashkar Bloch for their support during sampling. We acknowledge timely technical inputs from Gitanjali Bhattacharya, Craig Bruce, Julien Godfrey, Jim Mackie, and Graeme Williamson from ZSL. We thank the Director, Dean and Research Coordinator of Wildlife Institute of India for their support. We extend our gratitude to the editor and three anonymous reviewers for their constructive critiques to improve this manuscript.

References

1. Ainsworth MS, Bowlby J. 1991. An ethological approach to personality development. *American Psychologist* 46:333.

- 950 2. Allport FH, Allport GW. 1921. Personality Traits: Their Classification and
951 Measurement. *The Journal of Abnormal Psychology and Social Psychology* 16:6.
- 952 3. Altmann J. 1974. Observational study of behaviour: sampling methods. *Behaviour*
953 49:227–267.
- 954 4. Amato KR, Van Belle S, Wilkinson B. 2013. A comparison of scan and focal
955 sampling for the description of wild primate activity, diet and intragroup spatial
956 relationships. *Folia Primatologica* 84:87–101. DOI: 10.1159/000348305.
- 957 5. Banerjee K, Jhala YV, Chauhan KS, Dave CV. 2013. Living with lions: The
958 economics of coexistence in the Gir forests, India. *PloS One* 8:1–11. DOI:
959 10.1371/journal.pone.0049457.
- 960 6. Banerjee K, Jhala YV, Pathak B. 2010. Demographic structure and abundance of
961 Asiatic lions *Panthera leo persica* in Girnar Wildlife Sanctuary, Gujarat, India.
962 *Oryx* 44:248. DOI: 10.1017/S0030605309990949.
- 963 7. Bateson M, Matheson SM. 2007. Performance on a categorisation task suggests that
964 removal of environmental enrichment induces “pessimism” in captive European
965 starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*). *Animal Welfare* 16:33–36.
- 966 8. Boissy A, Erhard HW. 2014. How studying interactions between animal emotions,
967 cognition, and personality can contribute to improve farm animal welfare. In:
968 *Genetics and the Behavior of Domestic Animals*. Elsevier, 81–113. DOI:
969 10.1016/B978-0-12-394586-0.00003-2.
- 970 9. Boissy A, Manteuffel G, Jensen MB, Moe RO, Spruijt B, Keeling LJ, Winckler C,
971 Forkman B, Dimitrov I, Langbein J, Bakken M, Veissier I, Aubert A. 2007.
972 Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiology &*
973 *Behavior* 92:375–397. DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003.

- 974 10. Bremner-Harrison S, Prodohl PA, Elwood RW. 2004. Behavioural trait assessment
975 as a release criterion: boldness predicts early death in a reintroduction programme
976 of captive-bred swift fox (*Vulpes velox*). *Animal Conservation* 7:313–320. DOI:
977 10.1017/S1367943004001490.
- 978 11. Broom D. 1986. Indicators of Poor Welfare. *British Veterinary Journal* 142:524–
979 526.
- 980 12. Broom DM. 1991. Animal welfare: concepts and measurement. *Journal of Animal*
981 *Science* 69:4167–4175.
- 982 13. Broom DM. 2011. A history of animal welfare science. *Acta Biotheoretica* 59:121–
983 37. DOI: 10.1007/s10441-011-9123-3.
- 984 14. Butterworth A, Mench JA, Wielebnowski N. 2011. Practical strategies to assess
985 (and improve) welfare. *Animal Welfare*:200–214.
- 986 15. Cannon TH, Heistermann M, Hankison SJ, Hockings KJ, McLennan MR. 2016.
987 Tailored enrichment strategies and stereotypic behavior in captive individually
988 housed macaques (*Macaca spp.*). *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*
989 19:171–182. DOI: 10.1080/10888705.2015.1126786.
- 990 16. Carere C, Locurto C. 2011. Interaction between animal personality and animal
991 cognition. *Current Zoology* 57:491–498.
- 992 17. Caro TM, Roper R, Young M, Dank GRR. 1979. Inter-observer reliability.
993 *Behaviour* 69:303–315. DOI: 10.1163/156853979X00520.
- 994 18. Carter AJ, Marshall HH, Heinsohn R, Cowlshaw G. 2013. Personality predicts
995 decision making only when information is unreliable. *Animal Behaviour* 86:633–
996 639. DOI: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2013.07.009.

- 997 19. Chadwick C. 2014. Social behaviour and personality assessment as a tool for
998 improving the management of cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*) in captivity. Doctoral
999 dissertation, University of Salford).
- 1000 20. Chakrabarti S, Jhala Y V. 2017. Selfish partners: resource partitioning in male
1001 coalitions of Asiatic lions. *Behavioral Ecology* 28:1532–1539.
- 1002 21. Clark FE, Melfi VA. 2012. Environmental enrichment for a mixed-species
1003 nocturnal mammal exhibit. *Zoo Biology* 31:397–413. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20380.
- 1004 22. Clegg ILK. 2018. Cognitive bias in zoo animals: An optimistic outlook for welfare
1005 assessment. *Animals* 8:1–25. DOI: 10.3390/ani8070104.
- 1006 23. Coelho CM, de Azevedo CS, Young RJ. 2012. Behavioral responses of maned
1007 wolves (*Chrysocyon brachyurus*, *Canidae*) to different categories of environmental
1008 enrichment stimuli and their implications for successful reintroduction. *Zoo biology*
1009 31:453–69. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20410.
- 1010 24. Cohen J. 1992. A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin* 112:155–159. DOI:
1011 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155.
- 1012 25. Cole EF, Quinn JL. 2014. Shy birds play it safe: personality in captivity predicts
1013 risk responsiveness during reproduction in the wild. *Biology Letters* 10. DOI:
1014 10.1098/rsbl.2014.0178.
- 1015 26. Corsetti S, Borruso S, Di Traglia M, Lai O, Alfieri L, Villavecchia A, Cariola G,
1016 Spaziani A, Natoli E. 2018. Bold personality makes domestic dogs entering a shelter
1017 less vulnerable to diseases. *PLoS ONE* 13. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193794.
- 1018 27. Cooper JJ, Nicol CJ. 1996. Stereotypic behaviour in wild caught and laboratory
1019 bred bank voles (*Clethrionomys glareolus*). *Animal Welfare* 5:245–257.

- 1020 28. Dawkins MS. 1990. From an animal's point of view: Motivation, fitness, and
1021 animal welfare. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences* 13:1–9. DOI:
1022 10.1017/S0140525X00077104.
- 1023 29. Dawkins MS. 2004. Using behaviour to assess animal welfare. *Animal Welfare*
1024 13:3–7. DOI: 10.1177/1091581812471490.
- 1025 30. Engel GL. 1980. The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. *American*
1026 *Journal of Psychiatry* 137:535-544.
- 1027 31. Fox RA, Millam JR. 2014. Personality traits of pair members predict pair
1028 compatibility and reproductive success in a socially monogamous parrot breeding
1029 in captivity. *Zoo Biology* 33:166–172. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.21121.
- 1030 32. Franks B, Higgins ET, Champagne FA. 2014. A theoretically based model of rat
1031 personality with implications for welfare. *PloS One* 9(4). e95135. DOI:
1032 10.1371/journal.pone.0095135.
- 1033 33. Fraser D. 1999. Animal ethics and animal welfare science: bridging the two
1034 cultures. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 65:171–189. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-
1035 1591(99)00090-8.
- 1036 34. Fraser D. 2009. Animal behaviour, animal welfare and the scientific study of affect.
1037 *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 118:108–117. DOI:
1038 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.02.020.
- 1039 35. Fraser D, Duncan IJ. 1998. “Pleasures”, “pains” and animal welfare: toward a
1040 natural history of affect. *Animal Welfare* 7:383–396.
- 1041 36. Frost AJ, Winrow-giffen AA, Ashley PJ, Sneddon LU. 2007. Plasticity in animal
1042 personality traits: does prior experience alter the degree of boldness? *Proceedings*

1043 of the Royal Society: *Biological Sciences* 274:333–339. DOI:
 1044 10.1098/rspb.2006.3751.

1045 37. Funder DC. 1995. On the accuracy of personality judgment: A realistic approach.
 1046 *Psychological Review* 102:652–670. DOI: 10.1037/0033-295X.102.4.652.

1047 38. Funder DC, Colvin CR. 1988. Friends and strangers: Acquaintanceship, agreement,
 1048 and the accuracy of personality judgment. *Journal of Personality and Social*
 1049 *Psychology* 55:149–158. DOI: 10.1037//0022-3514.55.1.149.

1050 39. Gartner MC, Powell DM. 2011. Personality assessment in snow leopards (*Uncia*
 1051 *uncia*). *Zoo Biology* 29:1–15. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20385.

1052 40. Gartner MC, Powell DM, Weiss A. 2014. Personality structure in the domestic cat
 1053 (*Felis silvestris catus*), Scottish wildcat (*Felis silvestris grampia*), clouded leopard
 1054 (*Neofelis nebulosa*), snow leopard (*Uncia uncia*). *Journal of Comparative*
 1055 *Psychology* 128:414–426.

1056 41. Gartner MC, Powell DM, Weiss A. 2016. Comparison of subjective well-being and
 1057 personality assessments in the clouded leopard (*Neofelis nebulosa*), snow leopard
 1058 (*Panthera uncia*), and African lion (*Panthera leo*). *Journal of Applied Animal*
 1059 *Welfare Science* 19:294–302. DOI: 10.1080/10888705.2016.1141057.

1060 42. Gilby IC, Pokempner AA, Wrangham RW. 2010. A direct comparison of scan and
 1061 focal sampling methods for measuring wild chimpanzee feeding behaviour. *Folia*
 1062 *Primatologica; international journal of primatology* 81:254–64. DOI:
 1063 10.1159/000322354.

1064 43. Gliem JA, Gliem RR. 2003. Calculating, interpreting, and reporting Cronbach's
 1065 alpha reliability coefficient for Likert-type scales. In: Midwest Research-to-Practice
 1066 Conference in Adult, Continuing, and Community Education.

- 1067 44. Goold C, Newberry RC. 2017. Modelling personality, plasticity and predictability
1068 in shelter dogs. *Royal Society Open Science* 4:170618–170618. DOI:
1069 10.1101/145367.
- 1070 45. Gosling SD, John OP. 1999. Personality Dimensions in Nonhuman Animals: A
1071 Cross-Species Review. *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 8:69–75. DOI:
1072 10.1111/1467-8721.00017.
- 1073 46. Gosling SD, Vazire S. 2002. Are we barking up the right tree? Evaluating a
1074 comparative approach to personality. *Journal of Research in Personality* 36:607–
1075 614. DOI: 10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00511-1.
- 1076 47. Griffin AS, Guillette LM, Healy SD. 2015. Cognition and personality: An analysis
1077 of an emerging field. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 30:207–214. DOI:
1078 10.1016/j.tree.2015.01.012.
- 1079 48. Harding EJ, Paul ES, Mendl M. 2004. Cognitive bias and affective state. *Nature*
1080 427:312. DOI: 10.1038/427312a.
- 1081 49. Hediger H. 1968. The detrimental effects of captivity on the behaviour of wild
1082 animals. *World*:1–54.
- 1083 50. Herrelko ES, Buchanan - Smith HM, Vick S. 2015. Perception of available space
1084 during chimpanzee introductions: Number of accessible areas is more important
1085 than enclosure size. *Zoo biology* 34:397–405.
- 1086 51. Highfill L, Hanbury D, Kristiansen R, Kuczaj S, Watson S. 2010. Rating vs. coding
1087 in animal personality research. *Zoo Biology* 29:509–16. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20279.
- 1088 52. Higley JD, Hasert MF, Suomi SJ, Linnoila M. 1991. Nonhuman primate model of
1089 alcohol abuse: effects of early experience, personality, and stress on alcohol

consumption. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 88:7261–5.

53. Izzo GN, Bashaw MJ, Campbell JB. 2011. Enrichment and individual differences affect welfare indicators in squirrel monkeys (*Saimiri sciureus*). *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 125:347–352. DOI: 10.1037/a0024294.

54. Japyassú HF, Malange J. 2014. Plasticity, stereotypy, intra-individual variability and personality: Handle with care. *Behavioural Processes* 109:40–47.

55. Jhala YV, Chellam R, Qureshi Q, Meena V, Chauhan KS, Dave C, Banerjee K. 2006. *Social organization and dispersal of Asiatic lions and ecological monitoring of Gir*. Technical Report. Wildlife Institute of India, Dehradun, India.

56. Jhala YV, Mukherjee S, Shah N, Chauhan KS, Dave C V, Meena V, Banerjee K. 2009. Home range and habitat preference of female lions (*Panthera leo persica*) in Gir forests, India. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 18:3383–3394. DOI: 10.1007/s10531-009-9648-9.

57. Joslin P. 1973. The Asiatic Lion: A Study of ecology and behaviour.

58. Kessel AL, Brent L. 1996. Space utilization by captive-born baboons (*Papio sp.*) before and after provision of structural enrichment. *Animal Welfare* 5:37–44.

59. Kistler C, Hegglin D, Würbel H, König B. 2010. Structural enrichment and enclosure use in an opportunistic carnivore: the red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*). *Animal Welfare* 19:391–400.

60. Konjević D, Bata I, Sindičić M, Njemirovskij V. 2015. Zoochosis as a cause of excessive dental wear in captive Siberian tiger-a case report. *Veterinarska Stanica* 46:59–63.

- 1113 61. Koolhaas J, Korte S, De Boer S, Van Der Vegt B, Van Reenen C, Hopster H, De
1114 Jong I, Ruis M, Blokhuis H. 1999. Coping styles in animals: current status in
1115 behavior and stress-physiology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 23:925–
1116 935.
- 1117 62. Korte SM, Olivier B, Koolhaas JM. 2007. A new animal welfare concept based on
1118 allostasis. *Physiology & Behavior* 92:422–8. DOI: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.10.018.
- 1119 63. Kroshko J, Clubb R, Harper L, Mellor E, Moehrenschrager A, Mason G. 2016.
1120 Stereotypic route tracing in captive Carnivora is predicted by species-typical home
1121 range sizes and hunting styles. *Animal Behaviour* 117:197–209. DOI:
1122 10.1016/j.anbehav.2016.05.010.
- 1123 64. Lakens D. 2013. Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative
1124 science: A practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. *Frontiers in Psychology* 4:1–
1125 12. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863.
- 1126 65. Locurto C. 2006. Individual differences and animal personality. *Comparative*
1127 *Cognition & Behavior Reviews* 2:67–78. DOI: 10.3819/ccbr.2008.20004.
- 1128 66. Loehlin JC. 1992. Genes and environment in personality development. Sage
1129 Publications, Inc.
- 1130 67. Mallapur A, Qureshi Q, Chellam R. 2002. Enclosure design and space utilization
1131 by Indian leopards (*Panthera pardus*) in four zoos in southern India. *Animal Welfare*
1132 5:111–124.
- 1133 68. Martin P, Bateson PPG. 1993. Measuring behaviour: an introductory guide.
1134 Cambridge University Press.
- 1135 69. Martin-Wintle MS, Shepherdson D, Zhang G, Huang Y, Luo B, Swaisgood RR.
1136 2017. Do opposites attract? Effects of personality matching in breeding pairs of

1137 captive giant pandas on reproductive success. *Biological Conservation* 207:27–37.
1138 DOI: 10.1016/j.biocon.2017.01.010.

1139 70. Mason G, Rushen J. 2006. *Stereotypic behaviour in captive animals: fundamentals*
1140 *and implications for welfare and beyond*.

1141 71. Mason G, Mendl M. 2007. Why is there no simple way of measuring animal
1142 welfare? *Animal Welfare* 2:301–319.

1143 72. Mason GJ, Latham NR. 2004. Can't stop, won't stop: Is stereotypy a reliable animal
1144 welfare indicator? *Animal Welfare* 13:57–69. DOI: 10.2307/4493573.

1145 73. McMahon CR, Harcourt R, Bateson P, Hindell M a. 2013. Animal welfare and
1146 conservation, the debate we must have: A response to Draper and Bekoff (2012).
1147 *Biological Conservation* 158:424. DOI: 10.1016/j.biocon.2012.10.027.

1148 74. Meehan CL, Mench J. 2002. Environmental enrichment affects the fear and
1149 exploratory responses to novelty of young Amazon parrots. *Applied Animal*
1150 *Behaviour Science* 79:75–88.

1151 75. Meehan CL, Mench JA. 2007. The challenge of challenge: Can problem solving
1152 opportunities enhance animal welfare? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*
1153 102:246–261. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.031.

1154 76. Meena V. 2008. Reproductive strategy and behaviour of male Asiatic lions.

1155 77. Meena V. 2009. Variation in social organisation of lions with particular reference
1156 to the Asiatic Lions *Panthera leo persica* (Carnivora: Felidae) of the Gir forest,
1157 India. *Africa* 1:158–165.

- 1158 78. Melotti L, Oostindjer M, Bolhuis JE, Held S, Mendl M. 2011. Coping personality
1159 type and environmental enrichment affect aggression at weaning in pigs. *Applied*
1160 *Animal Behaviour Science* 133:144–153.
- 1161 79. Mendl M, Burman OHP, Parker RMA, Paul ES. 2009a. Cognitive bias as an
1162 indicator of animal emotion and welfare: Emerging evidence and underlying
1163 mechanisms. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 118:161–181. DOI:
1164 10.1016/j.applanim.2009.02.023.
- 1165 80. Miller LJ, Pisacane CB, Vicino GA. 2016. Relationship between behavioural
1166 diversity and faecal glucocorticoid metabolites: a case study with cheetahs
1167 (*Acinonyx jubatus*). *Animal Welfare* 25:325–329.
- 1168 81. Mills D. 1998. Personality and individual differences in the horse, their
1169 significance, use and measurement. *Equine Veterinary Journal* 30:10–13.
- 1170 82. Moneta GB, Spada MM. 2009. Coping as a mediator of the relationships between
1171 trait intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and approaches to studying during academic
1172 exam preparation. *Personality and Individual Differences* 46:664–669. DOI:
1173 10.1016/j.paid.2009.01.012.
- 1174 83. Moorhouse TP, Dahlsjö CAL, Baker SE, Cruze NCD. 2015. The Customer isn't
1175 Always Right — Conservation and animal welfare implications of the increasing
1176 demand for wildlife tourism. *Plos One* 10:10. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138939.
- 1177 84. Morton FB, Lee PC, Buchanan-Smith HM. 2013. Taking personality selection bias
1178 seriously in animal cognition research: A case study in capuchin monkeys (*Sapajus*
1179 *apella*). *Animal Cognition* 16:677–684. DOI: 10.1007/s10071-013-0603-5.

- 1180 85. Muehlmann AM, Lewis MH. 2012. Abnormal repetitive behaviours: Shared
1181 phenomenology and pathophysiology. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*
1182 56:427–440. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01519.
- 1183 86. Murphy LB. 1977. Responses of domestic fowl to novel food and objects. *Applied*
1184 *Animal Ethology* 3:335–349.
- 1185 87. Neal Webb SJ, Hau J, Schapiro SJ. 2018. Captive chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*)
1186 behavior as a function of space per animal and enclosure type. *American Journal of*
1187 *Primatology* 80. DOI: 10.1002/ajp.22947.
- 1188 88. Owen MA, Swaisgood RR, Blumstein DT. 2017. Contextual influences on animal
1189 decision-making: Significance for behavior-based wildlife conservation and
1190 management. *Integrative Zoology* 12:32–48. DOI: 10.1111/1749-4877.12235.
- 1191 89. Casas Pablo (2019). funModeling: Exploratory Data Analysis and Data Preparation
1192 Tool-Box. R package version 1.9.3.
- 1193 90. <https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=funModeling>
- 1194 91. Panksepp J. 2011. The basic emotional circuits of mammalian brains: Do animals
1195 have affective lives? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 35:1791–1804.
1196 DOI: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.08.003.
- 1197 92. Pant S C. 2015. *14th Lion Population Estimation Report – 2015*.
- 1198 93. Pastorino GQ, Soares NRP, Mazzola S, Preziosi R. 2016. Personality assessment
1199 and feline – keepers’ relationship in lions (*Panthera leo*). *International Journal of*
1200 *Health Animal Science & Food Safety* III:1–2.
- 1201 94. Pastorino GQ, Viau A, Curone G, Pearce-kelly P, Faustini M, Vigo D, Mazzola
1202 SM, Preziosi R. 2017. Role of personality in behavioral responses to new

1203 environments in captive Asiatic lions (*Panthera leo persica*). *Veterinary Medicine*
1204 *International*. DOI: <https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6585380>.

1205 95. Plowman AB. 2003. A note on a modification of the spread of participation index
1206 allowing for unequal zones. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 83:331–336. DOI:
1207 10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00142-4.

1208 96. Powell D. 1995. Preliminary evaluation of environmental enrichment techniques
1209 for African lions (*Panthera leo*). *Animal Welfare* 4:361–370.

1210 97. Powell D, Svoke JT. 2008. Novel environmental enrichment may provide a tool for
1211 rapid assessment of animal personality: A case study with giant pandas (*Ailuropoda*
1212 *melanoleuca*). *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science* 11:301–318.

1213 98. Rabin LA. 2003. Maintaining behavioural diversity in captivity for conservation:
1214 natural behaviour management. *Animal Welfare* 12:85–94.

1215 99. Razal CB, Pisacane CB, Miller LJ. 2016. Multifaceted approach to personality
1216 assessment in cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*). *Animal Behaviour* 3:22–31. DOI:
1217 10.12966/abc.03.01.2016.

1218 100. Reading RP, Miller B, Shepherdson D. 2013. The value of enrichment to
1219 reintroduction success. *Zoo Biology* 32:332–341. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.21054.

1220 101. Rose P, Robert R. 2013. Evaluating the activity patterns and enclosure usage of
1221 a little-studied zoo species, the sitatunga (*Tragelaphus spekii*). *Journal of Zoo and*
1222 *Aquarium Research* 1:14–19.

1223 102. Ross SR, Shender MA. 2016. Daily travel distances of zoo-housed chimpanzees
1224 and gorillas: implications for welfare assessments and space requirements. *Primates*
1225 57:395–401. DOI: 10.1007/s10329-016-0530-6.

- 1226 103. RStudio. 2015. RStudio: integrated development environment for R. *RStudio*
1227 *Inc, Boston, Massachusetts.*
- 1228 104. Schoenecker B, Heller KE, Freimanis T. 2000. Development of stereotypies and
1229 polydipsia in wild caught bank voles (*Clethrionomys glareolus*) and their
1230 laboratory-bred offspring. Is polydipsia a symptom of diabetes mellitus? *Applied*
1231 *Animal Behaviour Science* 68:349–357.
- 1232 105. Schreck CB. 2010. Stress and fish reproduction: The roles of allostasis and
1233 hormesis. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 165:549–556.
- 1234 106. Sheperdson D, Carlstead K, Wielebnowski N. 2004. Cross-institutional
1235 assessment of stress response in zoo animals using longitudinal monitoring of faecal
1236 corticoids and behaviour. *Animal Welfare* 13:105–113.
- 1237 107. Sih A, Bell A, Johnson JCC. 2004. Behavioral syndromes: an ecological and
1238 evolutionary overview. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 19:372–8. DOI:
1239 10.1016/j.tree.2004.04.009.
- 1240 108. Skrzypczak N. 2016. Personality traits in the Atlantic spotted dolphin (*Stenella*
1241 *frontalis*): Syndromes and predictors of neophilia. ProQuest Dissertations and
1242 Theses:55.
- 1243 109. Sloan Wilson D, Clark AB, Coleman K, Dearstyne T. 1994. Shyness and
1244 boldness in humans and other animals. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 9:442–
1245 446. DOI: 10.1016/0169-5347(94)90134-1.
- 1246 110. Sneddon LU, Braithwaite VA, Gentle MJ. 2003. Animal studies repository
1247 novel object test: Examining nociception and fear in the rainbow trout. *The Journal*
1248 *of Pain* 4:431–440.

- 1249 111. Spiezio C, Valsecchi V, Sandri C, Regaiolli B. 2018. Investigating individual
1250 and social behaviour of the Northern bald ibis (*Geronticus eremita*): behavioural
1251 variety and welfare. *PeerJ* 6: e5436. DOI: 10.7717/peerj.5436.
- 1252 112. Spinu V, Grolemond G, Wickham H. 2018. lubridate: Make dealing with dates
1253 a little easier, R package version 1.7. 4.
- 1254 113. Spruijt BM, Bos R van den, Pijlman FT. 2001. A concept of welfare based on
1255 reward evaluating mechanisms in the brain: anticipatory behaviour as an indicator
1256 for the state of reward systems. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 72:145–171.
- 1257 114. Srivastav A. 2014. *International Studbook of Asiatic lion (Panthera leo*
1258 *persica*).
- 1259 115. Stamps J, Groothuis TGG. 2010. The development of animal personality:
1260 Relevance, concepts and perspectives. *Biological Reviews* 85:301–325. DOI:
1261 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2009.00103.x.
- 1262 116. Stanton LA, Sullivan MS, Fazio JM. 2015. A standardized ethogram for the
1263 Felidae: A tool for behavioral researchers. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*
1264 173:3–16. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim.2015.04.001.
- 1265 117. Swaisgood RR, Shepherdson DJ. 2005. Scientific approaches to enrichment and
1266 stereotypies in zoo Animals: what's been done and where should we go next? *Zoo*
1267 *Biology* 518:499–518. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.
- 1268 118. Szokalski MS, Litchfield CA, Foster WK. 2013. What can zookeepers tell us
1269 about interacting with big cats in captivity? *Zoo Biology* 32:142–51. DOI:
1270 10.1002/zoo.21040.
- 1271 119. Tan HM, Ong SM, Langat G, Bahaman AR, Sharma RSK, Sumita S. 2013. The
1272 influence of enclosure design on diurnal activity and stereotypic behaviour in

1273 captive Malayan Sun bears (*Helarctos malayanus*). *Research in Veterinary Science*
1274 94:228–239. DOI: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2012.09.024.

1275 120. Traylor-Holzer K, Fritz P. 1985. Utilization of space by adult and juvenile
1276 groups of captive chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes*). *Zoo Biology* 4:115–127. DOI:
1277 10.1002/zoo.1430040205.

1278 121. Volpato GL, Giaquinto PC, de Castilho MF, Barreto RE, de Freitas EG. 2009.
1279 Animal welfare: from concepts to reality. *Oecologia Australis* 13:05–15. DOI:
1280 10.4257/oeco.2009.1301.01.

1281 122. Watanabe S. 2007. How animal psychology contributes to animal welfare.
1282 *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 106:193–202. DOI:
1283 10.1016/j.applanim.2007.01.003.

1284 123. Watters JV. 2009. Toward a predictive theory for environmental enrichment.
1285 *Zoo Biology* 28:609–622. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20284.

1286 124. Watters JV, Margulis SW, Atsalis S. 2009. Behavioral monitoring in zoos and
1287 aquariums: A tool for guiding husbandry and directing research. *Zoo Biology*
1288 28:35–48. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20207.

1289 125. Watters JV, Powell DM. 2012. Measuring animal personality for use in
1290 population management in zoos: suggested methods and rationale. *Zoo Biology*
1291 31:1–12. DOI: 10.1002/zoo.20379.

1292 126. Wemelsfelder F. 1997. The scientific validity of subjective concepts in models
1293 of animal welfare. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 53:75–88.

1294 127. Wemelsfelder F, Haskell M, Mendl MT, Calvert S, Lawrence AB. 2000.
1295 Diversity of behaviour during novel object tests is reduced in pigs housed in
1296 substrate-impooverished conditions. *Animal Behaviour* 60(3):385–394.

128. Whitham JC, Wielebnowski N. 2013. New directions for zoo animal welfare science. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 147:247–260. DOI: 10.1016/j.applanim.2013.02.004.
129. Whitham J, Miller L. 2016. Using technology to monitor and improve zoo animal welfare. *Animal Welfare* 25:395–409. DOI: 10.7120/09627286.25.4.395.
130. Wickham H. 2011. ggplot2. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics* 3:180–185.
131. Wickham H. 2017. Tidyverse: Easily install and load ‘tidyverse’ packages. *R package version 1*.
- 132.** Wilson M, Kelling A, Poline L, Bloomsmith M, Maple T. 2003. Post-occupancy evaluation of zoo Atlanta’s Giant Panda Conservation Center: Staff and visitor reactions. *Zoo Biology*. 22(4):365–82.

Figure legends

Figure 1: Schematic representation of an enclosure in Sakkarbaug zoological garden with the layout of zones for behavioural observations of enclosure use by study subjects.

Figure 2: Comparison of behavioural welfare indices of Asiatic lions across personality (bold and shy), rearing-history (wild and captive), sex (male and female), and social grouping (pair-housed vs group-housed) categories. The behavioural welfare indices used here are a) Enclosure usage; b) Behaviour diversity; c) Aberrant repetitive behaviour; and d) Latency to novel objects.

Deleted: gender